FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/2/2019 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97936-7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 77980-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FABIENNE L. RIGGERS,

Petitioner

VS.

CATHERINE STOTZKY,

Respondent

FABIENNE L. RIGGERS PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth H. Davidson, WSBA No. 602 Bryan W. Krislock, WSBA No. 45369 Attorneys for Appellant Fabienne L. Riggers

Davidson, Kilpatric & Krislock, PLLC 520 Kirkland Way, Suite 400 PO Box 817 Kirkland, WA 98083-0817 425.822.2228 office 425.827.8725 fax

II. Identity of Petitioner

Fabienne L. Riggers, the appellant in this case, files this petition for review through her attorneys of record.

III. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

The petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals above entitled matter filed on September 23, 2019. The order of the Court of Appeals denying the appellant's motion for reconsideration in this case was filed on October 30, 2019.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

- A. When a contents contribution toward the purchase price can be traced, but the deed is silent as to the interests, should the cotenants hold title in proportion to their contributions toward the purchase price, whether the case is tried at law or in equity?
- B. Where a cotenant has had exclusive occupancy of a single-family home as the cotenant's personal residence, should that cotenant be to other cotenants for an offset share of fair market rent?
- C. Is the standard of review for abuse of discretion by the trial court exercising equitable powers in a partition action whether the discretion was exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, considering the purpose of the trial court's discretion?

V. Statement of the Case

Following her divorce, Catherine Stotzky sold her home in Aurora, Colorado and came to live with her daughter, Fabienne Riggers. (CP 125); (VRP 365, 483, 485.) At the time, Ms. Riggers and her husband at the

time, Timothy Riggers, had a home in Bellevue where they lived with their two young school aged daughters. (VRP 70-71.) After about six months Ms. Riggers and Ms. Stotzky began looking for a permanent residence for Ms. Stotzky. (CP 125; VRP 74, 229, 221, 451, 454.) Ms. Stotzky's assets of approximately \$110,000 and monthly income of approximately \$1,000 from her ex-husband's retirement benefits, (VRP 214, 372-373), they could not find a home that Ms. Stotzky could afford to buy in a suitable neighborhood. (CP 125; VRP 452-453.) Tim Riggers proposed that Ms. Riggers and he use their income and investments to buy a house acceptable to Ms. Stotzky and rent it to her at a discounted rent which would be based on their payments for mortgage and real estate taxes, less their projected income tax deductions for the property.

Mr. Riggers learned through Rourke O'Brien, a mortgage banker, that they could finance the house purchase at a lower interest rate under his mortgage company's owner-occupied loan program if Ms. Stotzky name was on title. Since a lower interest rate would reduce monthly payments and in turn the rent to charge Ms. Stotzky, Mr. Riggers decided to follow Mr. O'Brien's suggestion. (CP 125, 127; VRP 223, 225, 390-92.)

The Riggers and Ms. Stotzky found small home in Issaquah which met Ms. Stotzky's needs and proceeded to purchase it on September 25,

1995. (Ex. 1; CP 126; VRP 155.) The purchase price was \$175,000.00. (CP 125.) The entire down payment of \$35,000 and closing costs of \$4,188.32 were paid by the Riggers. (CP 127; VRP 206, 513.) As planned, the parties took out an owner-occupied mortgage from Mr. O'Brien's company for \$140,000.00. (CP 127.) Ms. Stotzky's name was included on the deed to qualify for the lower interest as an owner-occupied loan. (CP 126.)

Mr. Riggers estimated his after-tax carrying cost for mortgage interest and taxes and told Ms. Stotzky her rent was \$802.00 per month. (CP 127; VRP 392, 488, 498.) Ms. Stotkzy paid \$802/month over 21 years at trial claimed it was towards the mortgage payment. (CP 130)

In June, 2002, the Riggers dissolved their marriage and the Issaquah house was awarded to Ms. Riggers. (Ex. 21; CP 131; VRP 117, 319, 327, 422.) In December, 2002, Ms. Riggers refinanced the mortgage. (CP 131; VRP 117-118.) in her name alone. (CP 131; VRP 118-119, 563.) In 2012 she again refinanced the house in her name alone. (CP 132; VRP 563.)

Ms. Riggers made all the mortgage payments on the property.

These mortgage payments included escrow payments for taxes and insurances as part of the total payment, along with interest on the amount loaned out. (CP 135; VRP 564.) After her spousal maintenance expired,

Ms. Riggers struggled financially. She knew Ms. Stotzky could not afford to pay her more rent. She proposed that Ms. Stotzky move into the apartment in her home without payment of rent and allow her to sell the Issaquah house. Ms. Stotzky rejected the idea. In the summer of 2016, Ms. Riggers reached out to her sisters to address finances and for help in caring for their mother who was in her mid-eighties and having difficulty living alone. (VRP 555.) Her sisters then told Ms. Stotzky that Ms. Riggers wanted her out of the house, though Ms. Riggers had not made such a demand. (VRP 181, 555.) In response, Ms. Stotzky's filed this partition action and moved to Portland to live with another daughter. (CP 133; VRP 137, 507.), She ceased her \$802 monthly payments to Ms. Riggers. (CP 134; VRP 98, 525, 558.)

Ms. Riggers continued to make the payments for mortgage, taxes and insurance and went to considerable expense to prepare the house to be rented. (CP 134-135; VRP 138, 558, 561.) In late March, it was rented through a real estate broker for \$2,400 per month. (CP 135; VRP 139, 559.) At trial Ms. Riggers presented the unrebutted expert testimony of Christy Rice who testified that the cumulative fair market rent for the Issaquah house over the period of Ms. Stotzky's occupancy was \$403,653, which was \$201,549 more than what Ms. Stotzky paid to Ms. Riggers. (Ex. 61.)

The trial court found there was no agreement that Stotzky's monthly payments were rent, and treated them as contributions toward the mortgage payments and adopted Stotzky's "total cost of ownership" theory. The court traced, with certainty, the amounts each party had paid toward mortgage principal and interest, taxes, insurance, homeowner dues and the down payment, which the Court defined as the overall cost of ownership, and found that Stotzky paid 56.2% of that category of costs. Therefore, the trial court ruled that Ms. Stotzky had a 56.2 % interest in the property and Ms. Riggers a 43.8% interest.

Ms. Riggers appealed the trial court's decision requesting that the Court of Appeals reverse as an abuse of discretion the trial court's ruling that Stotzky's monthly payments were not rent and, alternatively, modify the trial court's decision by determining of the percentage interest of the parties based on the contribution each party made to the purchase price, allowing Ms. Riggers an offset for her share of the fair market rent and revising the allocation of net rental income received in 2017. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision on all issues. Ms. Riggers filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied.

VI. Argument

The Supreme Court should accept review in this case under RAP 13.4(b) for any, or all, of the following reasons:

A. The Court of Appeals decision on the determination of the percentage ownership of co-tenants conflicts with four Supreme Court decisions.

The Washington Supreme Court, through a series of cases has adopted a consistent, reasoned approach to establishing the legal title and percentage ownership of real estate owned by co-tenants in this State. In *Iredell v Iredell*, 49 Wn.2d 627, 305 P.2d 805 (1957), the Supreme Court addressed how the cotenant's interest would be allocated if the deed was silent. The Court noted there was a presumption that the co-tenants had an equal interest, but went on to hold:

When in rebuttal the purchasers of property are shown to have contributed unequally to the purchase price, the general rule is that a presumption arises that they intended to share the property in proportion to the amount contributed by each. *Id.* at 631

The Court elaborated on this rule when affirming trial court decisions in *West v. Knowles*, 50 Wn.2d 311, 311 P.2d 689 (1957) and in *Shull v Shephard*, 63 Wn.2d 503, 387 P.2d 767 (1963). In *Shull*, the trial court found that Ms. Shull's contribution toward the purchase price of a house she bought while in a meretricious relationship with Mr. Shepard consisted of her down payment, (\$1,500), her share of payments to reduce the mortgage, (\$432), and her share of the outstanding mortgage principal balance, (\$2,361.94) and totaled (\$4,293.94). Since that contribution represented 45.2% of the \$9,500 purchase price, the trial court held that she owned a 45.2% in the property. Later, in *Cummings v. Anderson*, 94

Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980) the Supreme Court again cited the above principle from *Iredell* and followed the same methodology used in *Shull* to determine Ms. Cummings interest in the home she had purchased with Mr. Anderson. This Court found that her interest was 7.38% because she had her contribution of \$1,414.46 on the down payment and principal reduction equaled 7.38% of the \$19,179.08 purchase price.

In her appeal, Ms. Riggers argued that the Court of Appeals could determine from the record that Ms. Stotzky's contributed \$18,016.59 toward the \$175,000 purchase price through her share of reduction in the mortgage principal and down payment. Then, since her contribution was 10.3% of the purchase price, the Court of Appeals should conclude her interest was 10.3% under the Supreme Court's precedent.

The Court of Appeals, however, departed from these Supreme Court decisions and affirmed the trial court's use of a novel formula it called the "overall cost of ownership." This overall cost of ownership theory gave Ms. Stotzky credit for interest paid on the mortgage, homeowner association dues, taxes and insurance in addition to principal payments on the mortgage rather than just the purchase price. Under this theory, the trial court determined his interest to be 52.6%. Rather than following the established law in the *Irdell* line of cases, the Court of Appeals affirmed on the grounds of the trial court's "great flexibility' in

fashioning equitable relief" in partition actions and suggested that the court in equity is at liberty to disregard the legal precedents set forth in these Supreme Court cases and apply its own formulation to calculating legal title of real estate.

The conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and these Supreme Court decisions is irreconcilable and poses problems on several levels. It ignores that these Supreme Court decisions set forth a substantive rule of law for determining the extent of ownership which can applied in many types of proceedings, not just actions for partitions. For example, in *Iredell*, Jonathon Iredell's percentage ownership interest needed to be determined for the enforcement of a judgment against him, but not his cotenant. In *Shull* the court determined interests in a declaratory judgment action. Determining a continent's share of ownership may be the subject of litigation probate, bankruptcy or other proceedings which do not involve equitable relief. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision could lead to one determination of the percentage interest of a cotenant in a case at law—e.g. obligation owed a contractor— and a different determination in a subsequent partition action. This conflict leads to inconsistent, uncertain results.

The Court of Appeals below confuses the legal determination of extent of ownership with the flexibility equity has to fashion remedies. In

Cummings the Court used the legal principles set forth in Iredell, West and Shull to determine the extent of Ms. Cummings ownership and then turned to equitable remedies including offsets and gives an opportunity for Mr. Anderson to buy her out rather than compelling a sale of the property. roperty which bears the same ratio to the total equity as the ratio of her investment to the total investment of the parties. 94 Wn.2d at 144. The Court of Appeals decision departs from this Cummings precedent in allowing a court in equity to make any determination it choses on the extent of the cotenant's ownership so long as it "falls within the range of fair results."

B. The Court of Appeals decision on whether a cotenant occupying a single-family home as her exclusive personal residence owes a share of fair market rents to the other cotenant conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Case law in Washington unclear on when a cotenant occupying a house as his or her personal residence is subject to an offset for fair market rent, but there is a line of cases pointing in a direction opposite from the one in the Court of Appeals decision. In earlier cases, the Court allowed an offset for rent when one cotenant occupied a home as his or her exclusive personal residence. *In re Foster's Estate*, 139 Wn. 224, 246 P. 290 (1926); *McKnight v Besilides*, 19 Wn.2d 391, 143 P.2d 307 (1943). Both *Foster's Estate* and *McKnight* involved surviving spouses who

occupied as their personal residence a home co-owned with adult children of the deceased spouse. However, in *Fulton v Fulton*, 57 Wn.2d 331, 357 P.2d 169 (1970), the Court appeared to have taken a different direction, at least with respect to commercial property. In that case, one partner sought rental compensation from the other because the other's business used a greater portion of the jointly owned property than his business did. The Court ruled that he could not recover rent because he had not been ousted. In *Fulton*, the Court said that its holding was consistent with its decisions in *Foster's Estate* and *McKnight*, but nothing in the record in those cases suggests there was an ouster. The only way to interpret the Court's claim that the cases are consistent is to conclude that the Court considered the exclusive use of a home as personal residence to act as an ouster.

The concept of occupancy of a single-family home working as an ouster arose again in *Cummings*, when Ms. Cummings sought an offset for rent claiming she could no longer live in the house with her daughters because of the sexual behavior of Mr. Anderson's son. The Court stated:

An appealing argument is made that, in a situation such as this, where property is not adaptable to double occupancy, the mere occupation of the property by one cotenant may operate to exclude the other. See Annot. 51 A.L.R. 2d at 443. Had the respondent not abandoned her obligations under the contract of purchase at a time when over four-fifths of the purchase price remained to be paid, we would be much inclined to agree that she is entitled to receive rent. *Cummings v. Anderson, supra. Id.* at 145.

In *In re the Marriage of Maxfield*, 47 Wn. App. 699, 737 P.2d 671 (1987), Division III of the Court of Appeals took one step further and held that Ms. Maxfield's exclusive occupancy of a home she owned in cotenancy with her former husband created an ouster and cited *Cummings* as support. The Court then denied her claim against Mr. Maxfield for reimbursement for payments on mortgage, taxes and insurance because of his offsetting right to rent.

Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with Division III's decision in *Maxfield* and from where the Supreme Court said it would be inclined to go in *Cummings*. Unlike Ms. Cummings, Ms. Riggers personally assumed the entire mortgage liability for the Issaquah house and paid every installment due. Therefore, she argued the Court of Appeals should follow the Court's announced inclination in *Cummings* and award her rent. Contrary to the Supreme Court's stated inclination in *Cummings* and the holding in *Maxfield*, the Court of Appeals rejected her claim for rent because she had not been ousted.

C. Assuming arguendo a trial court may depart for the Iredell-Cummings line of cases, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with published decisions of the Court of Appeals on the standard of review.

On appeal, Ms. Riggers challenged the trial court's use of an "Overall Cost of Ownership" theory for determining percentage of ownership as being completely arbitrary. In this case, the Court of Appeals

affirmed the trial court's use of its "Overall Cost of Ownership" because its "determination falls within the range of fair results". This standard of review for abuse of discretion the trial court is the same as the "reasonable judge" standard for review for abuse of discretion expressly rejected in *Coggle v. Snow*,56 Wn. App. 499, 784 P.2d 554 (1990). In *Coggle*, the Court stated: "The proper standard is whether discretion is exercised on untenble grounds or for untenable reasons considering the purposes of the trial court's discretion." *Id* at 507. One fundamental purpose of trial court's discretion in partition actions is "that a cotenant should not be permitted to take inequitable advantage of another's investment." *Cummings, supra* at 142.

Under *Coggle*, the Court of Appeals should have evaluated whether the trial court's exclusion of a return on the \$35,000 down payment and other costs to Ms. Riggers failed to further this fundamental purpose. The Court of Appeals should have reviewed whether there were any tenable or reasonable grounds which supported a novel methodology which gave Ms. Stotzky a windfall recovery at Ms. Riggers expense. The trial court's methodology made from whole cloth allowed Ms. Stotzky to continue to earn a return on her \$110,000 investment in mutual funds, avoid any cost to her for the \$35,000 the Riggers took out of mutual funds to make the down payment, receive a credit for mortgage interest she paid

as a means of building equity and enjoy exclusive use of a home without payment of rent for 21 years, the fair market value of which was \$403,403,653. Where Ms. Stotzky paid no money down and only \$18,016.59 on mortgage principal, the Court of Appeals should have reviewed whether there were any tenable and reasonable grounds supporting the trial court's new formula which awarded her a 56.2% interest in the property. Instead, it applied a standard of review *Coggle* rejected and overturned.

D. This petition involves issues affecting a growing number of people who buy single family residences in Washington as cotenants and impacting substantial public interests.

The Court of Appeals decision will affect a growing number of people who buy homes in Washington as tenants in common. A recent report from the U.S. Census Bureau reveals a dramatic increase in the number of unmarried person's livings together. The report states, "The number went from nearly 6 million in 1996 to 19.1 million in 2018" Mike Schneider, *Unmarried Partners in US Have Tripled in 2 decades* SEATTLE TIMES, September 24, 2019, Associated Press.

A recent report from Zillow, studying the trends in home ownership found that nationwide, the percentage of homebuyers in the ages of 24-35 who purchase property together as unmarried couples has increase from 11 percent to 15 percent, a 36 percent increase. Zillow, Inc.

"More Young Unmarried Couples Buying Homes Together"

http://zillow.mediaroom.com/2017-02-08-More-Young-UnmarriedCouples-Buying-Homes-Together (last visited Nov. 27, 2019). With the tightening of mortgage underwriting standards and rise of home prices, another growing trend has been parents and adult children or even siblings combining their resources and creditworthiness to buy a residence for a family member. For cotenants of homes in both these trends, this case presents issues of great concern and public interest. Though the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished, it will be read, and used, by lawyers in research to provide advice to their clients and under GR 14.1 will be cited to trial courts in cases involving co-tenancies in personal residences.

This decision will also have an impact of certainty of title across this state. A public policy of promoting certainty of title pervades equitable and legal decisions in this state. This policy has been cited in cases involving equitable redemptions, errors in non-judicial foreclosures, quiet title actions, recording act questions, and even the strict application of the need for a legal description in enforcing contracts, listing agreements or contracts of real estate. *See e.g.* W. *Loan & Sav. Co. v. Waisman*, 32 Wash. 644, 649, 73 P. 703, 704 (1903) (stability of title is a public policy requiring clear and convincing evidence overcome an notary acknowledgement); *see also E. K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Whatcom Cty.*, 5

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