FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/19/2019 11:19 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Case No. 97936-7

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No. 77980-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FABIENNE L. RIGGERS,

Petitioner,

VS.

CATHERINE STOTZKY,

Respondent.

CATHERINE STOTZKY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Erin K. Olson, WSBA No. 34656 Attorney for Respondent Catherine Stotzky

Law Office of Erin Olson, P.C. 2014 N.E. Broadway Street Portland, OR 97232 Phone: (503) 546-3150

Fax: (503) 548-4435

Email: eolson@erinolsonlaw.com

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Catherine Stotzky, the appellee and cross-appellant in the case below, is the respondent (only) before this Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1995, Ms. Stotzky relocated from Aurora, Colorado to the Bellevue, Washington area after a bitter divorce from her husband of 36 years. She did so at the urging of Ms. Riggers, in part because Ms. Riggers and her husband, Tim Riggers, wanted Ms. Stotzky nearby to help care for their two daughters. RP 69-71, 111-112, 173, 199, 363-366, 481-487, 500-501, 552.

After Ms. Stotzky had relocated to Bellevue, the Riggers contacted their realtor and friend, Alice Woo, to assist Ms. Stotzky in locating a suitable permanent residence. RP 71-75, 221, 228-229, 451-454, 456-457, 469, 485-488. Ms. Woo was retained pursuant to a written agency agreement signed by Tim Riggers, Fabienne Riggers, and Ms. Stotzky. RP 80, 459; Ex 2.

Ms. Stotzky located a home in Maple Valley that she liked and that was within her price range of up to \$150,000, but Mr. Riggers actively discouraged Ms. Stotzky's purchase of the Maple Valley home, arguing that it was too far from the Riggers' home for Ms. Stotzky to easily

commute to care for the Riggers' children. RP 76-77, 173-174, 188, 199-200, 439-440, 484, 486-487, 498, 538-539, 545-546.

When efforts to locate a suitable residence nearer the Riggers' home that was within Ms. Stotzky's price range were unsuccessful, Tim Riggers proposed that he and Ms. Riggers assist Ms. Stotzky in the purchase of a higher-priced home that was nearer their Bellevue home. RP 72, 77-78, 200-201, 368, 486-487. They eventually located a residence at 25717 S.E. 35th Place in Issaquah, and their offer of \$175,000 was accepted. RP 78-79, 81, 454-455, 459; Ex 3.

Tim Riggers made the financial and other arrangements for the purchase of the Issaquah residence, including engaging a friend of his who was a mortgage broker, Rourke O'Brien, to assist in obtaining a mortgage loan. RP 81-82, 143-144, 200-205, 216-217, 222-223, 442, 468, 488-489, 545. The Riggers and Ms. Stotzky signed applications for the mortgage loan. RP 84-85; Exs 6-7. All three also signed the mortgage note and various disclosures, attestations, and certifications. Exs 5, 8-13. Title to the Issaquah home was conveyed to "Timothy P. Riggers and Fabienne L. Riggers, Husband and Wife and Catherine Stotzky, A Single Person." Ex 1.

Additionally, the Riggers and Ms. Stotzky signed multiple documents under oath or other attestation stating that title would be held

in the names of all three, and that the Issaquah home would be owner-occupied. RP 85-87; Exs 6-9. There is no dispute that the "owner" who would be occupying the home was Ms. Stotzky. RP 85, 88.

Ms. Stotzky understood and believed that she co-owned the home with the Riggers, and that she would be able to live there for the rest of her life. RP 189, 487-489, 508-509, 537-538.

Mr. Riggers dictated the financial terms of the arrangement, which included the Riggers making the \$35,000 down payment including closing costs, taking the tax deductions for the mortgage interest and property taxes, and paying the balance due on the monthly mortgage payment after Ms. Stotzky's monthly payments of \$802 were applied.

RP 89-90, 187, 224-225, 382-383, 389, 392, 488, 497-498, 513, 551; Exs 8, 11. The monthly payments to the mortgage servicer of \$1,263.00 included \$1,002.98 principal, \$216.19 interest, and \$43.83 toward the insurance premium, and the first payment was due November 1, 1995.

Exs 5, 8, 10. Ms. Stotzky assumed responsibility for paying the homeowner's association dues, which were assessed quarterly. RP 98, 100, 496-497; Ex 50.

Ms. Stotzky turned over the funds she had intended to use to purchase a residence to Tim Riggers to invest for her, as he was working

in the financial services industry at the time, and she trusted him to act in her interests. RP 72, 78, 368-372, 425-426, 498-499, 534-536.

During the first few months after the purchase of the Issaquah property, Ms. Stotzky made a notation in the memo line of the checks she wrote to pay her share of the mortgage. The first check, which bears the words "Mortgage payment" in the memo line, is in the amount of \$1,263 and is payable to the mortgage company. Ms. Stotzky wrote "cancelled" across the front of the check. The second check is payable to Tim and Fabienne Riggers in the amount of \$1,604, and the memo line reads "Rent for Dec and Jan." Three of the other four checks with annotations in the memo line include the word "rent." The fourth check, for \$1,600, reads "2 month mortgage" in the memo line. No checks after March 22, 1996 have anything written in the memo line. Ms. Stotzky does not now remember why she put the "mortgage" in the memo line of some checks and "rent" in others. RP 96-98, 520-524; Exs 51, 54.

The Riggers divorced in 2001, with financial disputes ongoing until 2005. RP 215. Throughout those proceedings, Ms. Riggers maintained that Ms. Stotzky was a co-owner of the Issaquah property, and not a renter. She did so in declarations and testimony given in those proceedings. RP 93, 108-109, 112-115, 237, 313-315, 329-331; Exs 15-16, 24-25.

Ms. Riggers' adamant assertions during her divorce proceedings that Ms. Stotzky co-owned the Issaquah property led Tim Riggers to file a declaratory judgment action against Ms. Riggers and Ms. Stotzky to adjudicate title to the Issaquah property. RP 115-116, 292-293, 317-320, 501-502; Ex 18. During the declaratory judgment action, Ms. Riggers retained an attorney for Ms. Stotzky to defend Ms. Stotzky's ownership interest in the Issaquah property and assisted the attorney in that defense. RP 116-117. Pursuant to the settlement agreement reached in the Riggers' divorce case, the declaratory judgment action was dismissed without adjudication, and Mr. Riggers conveyed his interest in the Issaquah property to Ms. Riggers. RP 117, 308-309, 311, 327; Exs 21, 57. Ms. Riggers' financial settlement in the dissolution proceedings was in excess of \$1 million, plus spousal maintenance payments through 2010 and the maximum statutory child support for the Riggers' two children. RP 119, 323-327, 329; Ex 57.

After the Riggers' divorce proceedings were concluded, Ms.

Riggers pressured Ms. Stotzky to change her will so only she would inherit Ms. Stotzky's interest in the Issaquah property, and not Ms.

Stotzky's two other daughters. Ms. Stotzky acquiesced, and one of her other daughters, Melinda Baldwin, drove her to a nearby military base

where she changed her will as requested by Ms. Riggers. RP 195-197, 502-503; Ex 82.

The 1995 mortgage loan was refinanced in 2002 after the Riggers' divorce in order to remove Tim Riggers as an obligor. RP 117-118; Exs 22, 57. The principal balance on the 1995 note of \$131,365.80 was paid off with a new loan of \$134,000. Ex 23. The note for the 2002 refinance was not produced, but the final HUD Settlement Statement lists only Ms. Riggers as "borrower." RP 118-119; Ex 23. Both Ms. Riggers and Ms. Stotzky signed the trust deed as the "borrowers." Tr 503-504, 563; Ex 22.

After Ms. Riggers' spousal maintenance payments ended in 2010, she was unable to financially sustain her lifestyle, and contacted her sisters to request assistance in paying the \$300 or so per month that was her portion of the obligation toward the Issaquah property. Her sisters' declined, so instead, Ms. Riggers remodeled the basement of her own home, and has rented it for \$1,250-\$1,600/month since that time. RP 119-121, 129-131, 175-177, 334-335, 406.

In 2012, Ms. Riggers arranged to refinance the mortgage loan on the Issaquah property, with \$116,572.44 in principal from the 2002 loan paid off with the proceeds from a new loan for \$121,450. RP 131; Exs 28-33. Only Ms. Riggers signed the 2012 note, which was secured by a trust deed that was again signed by both Ms. Stotzky and Ms. Riggers.

RP 504, 563; Exs 31, 34. At time of trial, the balance on the mortgage was approximately \$109,000. Ex 63.

In 2013, Ms. Riggers advised Ms. Stotzky that she had arranged to refinance the mortgage again, and Ms. Stotzky went to a credit union to sign the necessary documents. Once there, she learned that Ms. Riggers had not arranged to refinance the mortgage, but rather, had applied for a \$50,000 HELOC. Ms. Stotzky objected to further encumbering the property, but after a heated discussion during which Ms. Riggers threatened to make her go live in an apartment if she did not sign, Ms. Stotzky signed the trust deed. RP 131, 504-505; CP 347; Exs 38-40. Ms. Riggers fully extended the \$50,000 HELOC to pay for her personal expenses, and at time of trial, the balance on the HELOC remained \$50,000. RP 64, 581, 649-650.

Still experiencing financial challenges, in the spring of 2016, Ms. Riggers called Ms. Stotzky and told her she needed to sell the Issaquah property, and that Ms. Stotzky would have to move out. Ms. Stotzky declined. RP 132-133, 505-506, 553-554.

In early July 2016, Ms. Riggers delivered to her two sisters,

Nathalie Roloff and Melinda Baldwin, a lengthy statement written at Ms.

Riggers' request by her ex-husband, Tim Riggers. Exs 42-43. The

statement conveyed demands that Ms. Stotzky quitclaim her interest in

the Issaquah property to Ms. Riggers by July 15th so Ms. Riggers could list the property for sale by August 1st, and that Ms. Stotzky vacate the property by September 15th. Ex 42; RP 134-137, 230-231, 526, 528, 554-555, 571. After discussions with Nathalie and Melinda, Ms. Stotzky understood that Ms. Riggers was going to force her out of her home one way or another, so in November 2016, after living independently in her Issaquah home for 21 years, she moved to Portland to live with Nathalie and her family. RP 180-181, 192-193, 506-508, 525-526, 529.

During the 21 years she resided in the Issaquah home, Ms. Stotzky paid \$802 per month to the Riggers toward the monthly expenses of ownership, paid for most of the routine and other maintenance on the property, and paid the HOA fees. RP 98, 100, 102-103, 488, 490-496, 532; Exs 50, 52. Her last payment of \$802 was in November 2016, by which time she had paid a total of \$202,104 to the Riggers toward the monthly mortgage expenses. RP 525, 558, 643. She had paid \$10,840 in HOA fees during her occupancy, with her final payment covering the last quarter of 2016. RP 496-497, 634; Ex 50.

The Riggers have never reported Ms. Stotzky's \$802 monthly payments as rental or other income on their tax returns, nor as income in financial statements or applications. RP 104, 106-107, 247; Exs 17, 24, 26, 32, 38, 55.

After Ms. Stotzky had relocated to Oregon to live with Nathalie, and after she had filed this lawsuit, Ms. Riggers changed the locks to the Issaquah residence, removed furniture Ms. Stotzky intended to retrieve, replaced appliances, contracted for maintenance and repairs, engaged a leasing agent, and entered into a one-year lease with an unwitting third party, all without Ms. Stotzky's knowledge or consent. RP 137-139, 532, 556-557, 559-562; Exs 64-78, 90.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' decision on the determination of the percentage ownership of co-tenants is consistent with this Court's jurisprudence.

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with four decisions of this Court: *Iredell v. Iredell*, 49 Wn.2d 627, 305 P.2d 805 (1957); *West v. Knowles*, 50 Wn.2d 311, 311 P.2d 89 (1957); *Schull v. Shepherd*, 63 Wn.2d 503, 387 P.2d 767 (1963); and *Cummings v. Anderson*, 94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980). The collective holding of those cases, says Petitioner, is that when a deed is silent on the respective interests of cotenants, a court in a partition action must determine percentage of ownership based only on the contributions of each of the cotenants toward the total of the down payment and the payments that reduced the principal balance of the mortgage. Petitioner

describes this formula as a "substantive rule of law" set by this Court from which a trial court cannot deviate.

Petitioner mischaracterizes this Court's decisions. Her argument that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court is refuted by the most recent opinion cited by Petitioner: *Cummings v. Anderson*, 94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980).

In *Cummings*, this Court cited to *Iredell v. Iredell*, *West v. Knowles*, and *Shull v. Shepherd* for foundational principles concerning the determination of cotenancy interests. The Court's conclusion in *Cummings* was that:

"[T]he respondent has an equity in the real property which bears the same ratio to the total equity as the ratio of her investment to the total investment of the parties. The petitioner is entitled to have offset against that interest a corresponding portion of the taxes and insurance premiums which he has paid."

Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d at 144. The Court thus factored in more than just the source of the down payment and payments to reduce the principal balance on the mortgage in determining the parties' respective interests.

Even more notable in *Cummings* is that the Court also affirmed the trial court's general equitable approach in ordering relief based not only on the parties' respective contributions toward the purchase of the real

property in question, but also in jointly-owned personal property taken by the respondent when she left the relationship with petitioner. *Id.* at 144. In doing so, the Court acknowledged the trial court's "great flexibility in fashioning relief for the parties." *Cummings*, 94 Wn.2d at 143-44.

The Court of Appeals did not deviate from this Court's approach in *Cummings v. Anderson* when it affirmed the trial court's decision.

B. The Court of Appeals was correct in affirming the trial court's determination that Ms. Stotzky owed no rent to Ms. Riggers.

Petitioner also asserts that the Court of Appeals decision denying her an offset for fair market rent conflicts with this Court's decisions and a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Neither is true.

In *Cummings v. Anderson*, this Court wrote:

"It is the rule in Washington that, in the absence of an agreement to pay rent, or limiting or assigning rights of occupancy, a cotenant in possession who has not ousted or actively excluded the cotenant is not liable for rent based upon his occupancy of the premises. In order for ouster to exist, there must be an assertion of a right to exclusive possession."

94 Wn.2d at 145 (internal citations omitted). The Court went on to say that "An appealing argument is made that, in a situation such as this, where the property is not adaptable to double occupancy, the mere occupation of the property by one cotenant may operate to exclude the other." *Id.* However, the Court nonetheless affirmed the Court of Appeals

denial of respondent's request for a rent offset, concluding that "[u]nder the circumstances as they exist, she has not demonstrated a sufficient equitable interest to warrant this extension of the rule." *Id*.

In this case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's similar reasoning, and so there is no conflict with this Court's decision in *Cummings v. Anderson*.

Nor is there a conflict with the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals in *In re the Marriage of Maxfield*, 47 Wn. App. 699, 737 P.2d 671 (1987). In that case, Division III acknowledged the general rule stated in *Cummings* that, "In the absence of an agreement to pay rent, or limiting or assigning rights of occupancy, a cotenant in possession who has not ousted or actively excluded the cotenant out of possession is not liable for rent based upon her occupancy of the premises." *Maxfield*, 47 Wn. App. at 707-708. However, ouster had been proven to the satisfaction of the trial court in *Maxfield*, and Division III affirmed the trial court's conclusion.

In this case, the trial court concluded that ouster of Petitioner did not occur, 1 and the Court of Appeals agreed: "Fabienne never attempted

¹ Indeed, Petitioner did not plead ouster, and presented no evidence of ouster at trial, probably because her trial position was that Respondent was renting the property pursuant to an oral rental agreement that was

to occupy the house, so her ouster argument is meritless." *Stotzky v. Riggers*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1023, slip op. at 17-18 (2019).

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and the decisions of this Court or other divisions of the Court of Appeals because ouster was not alleged or proven by Petitioner at trial.

C. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review.

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